

Disposal of Uncollected Goods Act 1967

Reprinted as in force on 1 January 2003

Reprint No. 1C^{*}

This reprint is prepared by the Office of the Queensland Parliamentary Counsel Warning—This reprint is not an authorised copy

^k Minor differences in presentation between this reprint and another reprint with the same number are due to the conversion to new styles. At the same time, footnotes that merely cite a cross-reference to this legislation, or other legislation, were omitted (see the *Acts Interpretation Act 1954*, section 14(7)).

Information about this reprint

This Act is reprinted as at 1 January 2003. The reprint shows the law as amended by all amendments that commenced on or before that day (Reprints Act 1992 s 5(c)).

The reprint includes a reference to the law by which each amendment was made—see list of legislation and list of annotations in endnotes. Also see list of legislation for any uncommenced amendments.

Minor editorial changes allowed under the provisions of the Reprints Act 1992 have also been made to use aspects of format and printing style consistent with current drafting practice (s 35).

This page is specific to this reprint. See previous reprints for information about earlier changes made under the Reprints Act 1992. A table of reprints is included in the endnotes.

Also see endnotes for information about-

- when provisions commenced
- editorial changes made in earlier reprints.

Spelling

The spelling of certain words or phrases may be inconsistent in this reprint or with other reprints because of changes made in various editions of the Macquarie Dictionary (for example, in the dictionary, 'lodgement' has replaced 'lodgment'). Variations of spelling will be updated in the next authorised reprint.

Dates shown on reprints

Reprints dated at last amendment All reprints produced on or after 1 July 2002, authorised (that is, hard copy) and unauthorised (that is, electronic), are dated as at the last date of amendment. Previously reprints were dated as at the date of publication. If an authorised reprint is dated earlier than an unauthorised version published before 1 July 2002, it means the legislation was not further amended and the reprint date is the commencement of the last amendment.

If the date of an authorised reprint is the same as the date shown for an unauthorised version previously published, it merely means that the unauthorised version was published before the authorised version. Also, any revised edition of the previously published unauthorised version will have the same date as that version.

Replacement reprint date If the date of an authorised reprint is the same as the date shown on another authorised reprint it means that one is the replacement of the other.



Queensland

Disposal of Uncollected Goods Act 1967

Contents

		Page
Part 1	Preliminary	
1	Short title	3
3	Interpretation	3
4	Application of Act	6
Part 2	Disposal of uncollected goods	
5	Rights of bailees to sell goods accepted for treatment but not re-delivered.	6
6	Bailee to comply with certain provisions to be entitled to sell goods	7
7	Bailee's rights to sell goods suspended upon dispute arising as to charges etc.	10
8	Special provisions applicable to certain cases of goods accepted before the commencement of this Act	11
9	Procedure after sale under this Act	14
Part 3	Orders of court for sale of uncollected goods	
10	Right of bailee to apply for order to sell goods	16
11	Orders to sell	18
Part 4	General	
12	Ambulatory operation of Act	20
13	Saving of powers outside Act	21
14	Notices	21
15	Buyer of goods sold pursuant to this Act to acquire a good title	21
16	Rights of owner of goods sold under this Act	22
17	Provisions for payment before sale of goods	22
18	Provision to be implied in bill of sale or other encumbrance	22
19	Special provisions applicable to sale of motor vehicles	23
20	Disposal of net proceeds of sale of goods	24
21	Right of owner to inspect goods	24

Contents

22	Penalties and proceedings	25
23	Regulation making power	25

Endnotes

1	Index to endnotes	26
2	Date to which amendments incorporated	26
3	Key	27
4	Table of reprints	27
5	Tables in earlier reprints	28
6	List of legislation	28
7	List of annotations	29

[s 1]

Disposal of Uncollected Goods Act 1967

[as amended by all amendments that commenced on or before 1 January 2003]

An Act to authorise the disposal of goods accepted in the course of a business for inspection, custody, storage, repair or other treatment but not re-delivered and for purposes connected therewith

Part 1 Preliminary

1 Short title

This Act may be cited as the *Disposal of Uncollected Goods Act 1967*.

3 Interpretation

(1) In this Act—

hire-purchase agreement means a hire-purchase agreement within the meaning of the *Hire-purchase Act 1959* or the *Credit (Rural Finance) Act 1996*.

Magistrates Court district or *district* means a district for the purposes of Magistrates Courts appointed under the *Justices Act 1886*.

motor vehicle means a motor car, motor carriage, motor cycle, tractor or other vehicle propelled, or designed to be propelled, wholly or partly by a volatile spirit, steam, gas, oil or electricity or by any means other than human or animal power.

(2) For the purposes of this Act goods shall be deemed to be ready for re-delivery—

- (a) in relation to goods accepted for inspection—when the inspection has been carried out; and
- (b) in relation to goods accepted for custody—when the period of arranged custody has expired or, where there is no period of arranged custody, upon the expiration of 7 days from such acceptance; and
- (c) in relation to goods accepted for storage—when the period of arranged storage has expired or, where there is no period of arranged storage, upon the expiration of 7 days from such acceptance; and
- (d) in relation to goods accepted for repair or other treatment—when the repair or other treatment has been carried out.
- (2A) The terms *inspection*, *custody*, *storage*, *repair* or *other treatment* shall include, where applicable, the transport or towing of any goods to the premises used or appropriated by the bailee for acceptance for any such inspection, custody, storage, repair or other treatment as the case may be.
- (2B) The term *inspection* shall include, where applicable, the acceptance of goods for the purpose of submitting a quotation of the charges of the bailee for the repair or other treatment of such goods.
 - (3) References in this Act to goods accepted by a bailee, in the course of a business, for inspection, custody, storage, repair or other treatment shall, in relation to goods of any class, be construed as references to goods of that class accepted by the bailee for inspection, custody, storage, repair or other treatment in the course of a business consisting of or comprising the acceptance by the bailee of goods of that class for inspection, custody, storage, repair or other treatment (whether or not the inspection, custody, storage, repair or other treatment is effected by the bailee) wholly or mainly from persons who deliver to the bailee, otherwise than in the course of a business, goods of that class for inspection, custody, storage, repair or other treatment is effected by the bailee.
 - (4) References in this Act to the charges of the bailee in relation to any goods shall—

[s 3]

- (a) where an order authorising the sale of the goods is obtained under part 3—be construed as a reference to the amount specified in the order authorising the sale in accordance with section 11(3)(a) and, in addition thereto, the amount (if any) specified in section 11(3)(b) and, in a case where the goods have been sold by virtue of the order, the subsidiary charges which the person authorised to sell the goods is entitled to make under subsection (5);
- (b) in any case not provided for in paragraph (a) and subject to the provisions of section 7(3) and to the provisions of any agreement between the bailor and the bailee, be construed as references to the amount agreed between them as the charge for the inspection, custody, storage, repair or other treatment of the goods or, if no amount has been so agreed, a reasonable charge therefor and, in a case where the goods have been sold the following additional amounts—
 - a reasonable charge for storing the goods during the period beginning with the date of the giving of the notice that the goods are ready for re-delivery or, where there has been a dispute between the bailor and the bailee, the date on which the dispute was determined, and ending with the date of the sale;
 - (ii) any costs of or in connection with the sale;
 - (iii) the cost (if any) of insuring the goods.
- (5) Where the goods are sold by virtue of an order under part 3 authorising the sale of the goods, the subsidiary charges which a person authorised to sell the goods is entitled to make are—
 - (a) a reasonable charge for storing the goods during the period beginning with the date of the order authorising the sale of the goods and ending with the date of the sale, not exceeding a charge at a rate (if any) specified in the order in accordance with section 11(3)(c) of this Act; and

[s 4]

- (b) any costs of or in connection with the sale not exceeding the costs (if any) specified in the order, in accordance with section 11(3)(c); and
- (c) the costs (if any) of insuring the goods.

4 Application of Act

- (1) This Act shall apply in relation to the bailment of any goods accepted, whether before or after the commencement of this Act, by the bailee, in the course of a business for inspection, custody, storage, repair or other treatment on the terms (express or implied) that they will be re-delivered to the bailor or in accordance with the bailor's directions when such goods are ready for re-delivery and on payment to the bailee of such charges as may be agreed between the parties or as may be reasonable.
- (2) This Act shall not apply to or with respect to a bailment of goods (other than motor vehicles) with a storer within the meaning of the *Storage Liens Act 1973*, section 2 for storage unless the bailment is in addition to storage of the goods for some other treatment of, or in respect of, the goods of a kind or nature referred to in subsection (1) other than a kind or nature lawful charges or claims for which are covered, pursuant to the *Storage Liens Act 1973*, section 4, by the lien conferred by that Act on the storer in respect of the bailment.

Part 2 Disposal of uncollected goods

5 Rights of bailees to sell goods accepted for treatment but not re-delivered

Where goods, accepted pursuant to a bailment in relation to which this Act applies, are ready for re-delivery but the bailor—

[s 6]

- (a) fails to pay or tender to the bailee the bailor's charges in relation to the goods; or
- (b) having paid those charges, fails to take delivery of the goods or, if the terms of the bailment so provide, to give directions as to their delivery;

then, subject to any agreement between the bailee and the bailor and to this Act, and if the bailee did not, before carrying out the inspection, custody, storage, repair or other treatment of the goods, have notice that the goods were comprised in a hire-purchase agreement containing a provision prohibiting the creation by the hirer of a lien on the goods, the bailee is, while the failure continues, entitled to sell the goods.

6 Bailee to comply with certain provisions to be entitled to sell goods

- (1) The bailee shall not be entitled by virtue of section 5 to sell goods accepted by the bailee for inspection, custody, storage, repair or other treatment unless the following provisions are complied with
 - where the goods are accepted for inspection, custody, (a) after storage, repair or other treatment the commencement of this Act-at all premises used or appropriated by the bailee for accepting for inspection, custody, storage, repair or other treatment goods of the class to which the goods accepted belong, there is, at the time of the acceptance (whether or not goods are accepted at any such premises), conspicuously displayed in the part of the premises so used or appropriated a notice indicating that the acceptance by the bailee of goods of that class for inspection, custody, storage, repair or other treatment is subject to this Act, and that this Act confers on the bailee a right of sale exercisable in certain circumstances after an interval not less than 6 months from the date on which the goods are ready for re-delivery;
 - (b) after the goods are ready for re-delivery, or after the commencement of this Act, whichever is the later, the

[s 6]

bailee gives to the bailor a notice that the goods are ready for re-delivery, being a notice complying with the requirements relating to such a notice of subsection (2) and gives such a notice to every other person who, at the time the bailee gives the notice to the bailor, the bailee actually knows has or claims an interest in the goods;

- (c) where at the date of the giving to the bailor of the notice under paragraph (b) that the goods are ready for re-delivery or, if more than 1 notice was given, at the date of the giving of the first of the notices, the amount which the bailee claims to be due to the bailee by way of the bailee's charges in relation to the goods exceeds the sum of \$110, the bailee obtains an order under part 3 authorising the bailee to sell the goods;
- (d) save where an order under part 3 authorising the bailee to sell the goods is obtained—after the expiration of the period of 6 months beginning with the date of the giving of the notice that the goods are ready for re-delivery or, if more than 1 notice was given, beginning with the date of the giving of the later or latest of the notices, and not less than 28 days before the sale of the goods, the bailee—
 - (i) gives to the bailor a notice of the bailee's intention to sell the goods, being a notice complying with the requirements relating to such a notice of subsection (2); and
 - (ii) gives such a notice to every person who, at the time the bailee gives the notice to the bailor, the bailee actually knows has or claims an interest in the goods; and
 - (iii) causes such a notice to be published—
 - (a) in a newspaper published in Brisbane and circulating throughout the State; and
 - (b) in a newspaper (if any) published in the district in which are situated the premises where the goods were accepted for

[s 6]

inspection, custody, storage, repair or other treatment; and

- (c) where the goods are a motor vehicle—in the gazette;
- (e) the goods are sold by public auction in a lot in which no other goods are included.
- (2) A notice required or authorised by this section or by section 7 to be given by the bailee to the bailor must contain a sufficient description of the goods to which the notice relates or, where the goods are a motor vehicle, the particulars of that vehicle referred to in section 19(1) and (1A) and a statement of the sum which the bailee claims to be due to the bailee by way of the bailee's charges in relation to the goods, together with—
 - (a) in the case of a notice that the goods are ready for re-delivery or a notice to treat the dispute as determined—a statement that if the bailor fails within the period of 6 months beginning with the date of the giving of the notice to pay the said sum or, having paid the said sum, to take delivery of the goods or give directions as to their delivery, they are liable to be sold in accordance with this Act; and
 - (b) in the case of a notice of the bailee's intention to sell the goods—a statement of the date of the giving of the notice to the bailor that the goods are ready for re-delivery or, where there has been a dispute between the bailor and the bailee, the date on which the dispute was determined, and a statement that if the bailor fails, within the period of 28 days beginning with the date of the giving of the notice of the bailee's intention to sell the goods, to pay the said sum or, having paid the said sum, to take delivery of the goods or give directions as to their delivery they are liable to be sold in accordance with the provisions of this Act.

[s 7]

7 Bailee's rights to sell goods suspended upon dispute arising as to charges etc.

- (1) Where, at any time before the giving to the bailor of the notice of the bailee's intention to sell the goods or before the giving to the bailor of the notice of the bailee's intention to apply to the court under part 3 for an order authorising the bailee to sell the goods, a dispute arises between the bailor and the bailee by reason of the bailor's refusal to pay the sum which the bailee claims to be due to the bailee by way of the bailee's charges in relation to the goods, or to take delivery thereof or give directions as to their delivery, on the ground that the charges are excessive or that the bailor is not satisfied that the inspection, custody, storage, repair or other treatment of the goods has been properly carried out, the bailee's right to sell the goods shall be suspended until the dispute is determined.
- (2) Without prejudice to any other mode of determining a dispute, it shall be treated for the purposes of this Act as having been determined if the bailee, at any time after the dispute has arisen, gives to the bailor a notice (a *notice to treat the dispute as determined*)—
 - (a) stating that unless, within the period of 1 month beginning with the date of the giving of the notice, the bailor objects thereto, the dispute will be treated for the purposes of this Act as having been determined; and
 - (b) in other respects complying with the requirements relating to such a notice of section 6(2);

and within the said period of 1 month the bailor does not notify the bailee that the bailor objects to the notice.

- (2A) Where the dispute is so treated as having been determined, the date on which it shall be so treated as having been determined shall be the date of the giving of the notice.
 - (3) If the bailor so notifies the bailee that the bailor objects to the notice to treat the dispute as determined, a Magistrates Court held in the district in which are situated the premises where the goods were accepted by the bailee may, on the application of the bailor or bailee—

- (a) make an order specifying the amount which the court deems reasonable in respect of the bailee's charges, and upon the making of such an order—
 - (i) the dispute shall be treated for the purposes of this Act as having been determined on the date of the order; and
 - (ii) the amount specified in the order shall for all purposes be the amount of the bailor's liability to the bailee for the bailee's charges; and
 - (iii) where the bailor has paid to the bailee an amount in respect of the bailee's charges that is in excess of the amount so specified—the bailor shall be entitled to recover that excess as a debt in any court of competent jurisdiction; or
- (b) refuse to make such an order.
- (4) The jurisdiction conferred on a Magistrates Court by subsection (3) shall not be exercised except by a Magistrates Court constituted by a stipendiary magistrate sitting alone.
- (5) Where a dispute in relation to any goods is determined (whether by virtue of subsection (2) or (3) or otherwise) section 6(1) shall have effect in relation to those goods as if paragraph (b) were omitted and as if for the reference in paragraph (d) to the date of the giving of the notice that the goods are ready for re-delivery there were substituted a reference to the date on which the dispute is determined.

8 Special provisions applicable to certain cases of goods accepted before the commencement of this Act

(1) Where the bailee of the goods accepted before the commencement of this Act for inspection, custody, storage, repair or other treatment does not at the commencement of this Act know any address of the bailor, the bailee shall not be disentitled to sell the goods by reason only that section 6(1)(b) and (d) are not complied with, if the following conditions are complied with—

[s 8]

- (a) within the period of 1 month beginning with the commencement of this Act, the bailee causes to be published—
 - (i) in a newspaper published in Brisbane and circulating throughout the State; and
 - (ii) in a newspaper (if any) published in the district in which are situated the premises where the goods were accepted for inspection, custody, storage, repair or other treatment; and
 - (iii) where the goods are a motor vehicle—in the gazette;

a notice complying with the requirements of subsection (3);

- at all premises used or appropriated by the bailee after (b) the commencement of this Act for accepting for inspection, custody, storage, repair or other treatment, goods of the class to which the goods so accepted belong, there is, throughout the period of 6 months immediately following the said period of 1 month or throughout that portion of the said period of 6 months during which the premises are so used or appropriated, conspicuously displayed in the part of the premises so used or appropriated a notice indicating that in the case goods of of that class accepted before the commencement of this Act for inspection, custody, storage, repair or other treatment this Act confers on the bailee a right of sale exercisable in certain circumstances after an interval of not less than 7 months from the commencement of this Act:
- (c) the goods are not sold before the expiration of the period of 7 months beginning with the commencement of this Act.
- (2) Where goods are sold by virtue of the fact that subsection (1) has been complied with, this Act shall have effect in relation to the goods subject to the following modifications—

- (a) for any reference in section 9(3) to a copy of the notice of the bailee's intention to sell the goods there shall be substituted a reference to a statement—
 - (i) of the name and issue of the newspaper in which the notice under subsection (1)(a)(i) was published; and
 - (ii) of the name and issue of the newspaper in which the notice (if any) under subsection(1)(a)(ii) was published; and
 - (iii) where the notice was also published in the gazette—of the date and number of that gazette;
- (b) for the reference in section 3(4)(b)(i) to the giving of the notice that the goods are ready for re-delivery, there shall be substituted a reference to the publication of the notice under subsection (1)(a) or where more than 1 such notice is published the first of such notices.
- (3) A notice under subsection (1)(a) in relation to any goods must contain—
 - (a) a sufficient description of the class to which the goods belong or, where the goods are a motor vehicle—the particulars of that vehicle referred to in section 19(1) and (1A); and
 - (b) the name under which the bailee carries on the business consisting of or comprising acceptance of goods of that class for inspection, custody, storage, repair or other treatment and the address of the bailee's principal place of business or, where the bailee is a company, the registered office of the company, and if the name or the address has changed during the 6 months immediately preceding the date of the publication of the notice, the last such name, or, as the case may be, the last such address preceding the change thereof; and
 - (c) a statement that if the bailor of the goods fails within the period of 7 months beginning with the commencement of this Act to pay the sum which the bailee claims to be due to the bailee by way of the bailee's charges in

[s 9]

relation to the goods or, having paid that sum, to take delivery of the goods or give directions as to their delivery they are liable to be sold under this Act.

Where the bailee of goods the (4)accepted before commencement of this Act for inspection, custody, storage, repair or other treatment does not at the commencement of this Act know any address of the bailor and at any time during the period of 7 months beginning with the commencement of this Act a dispute arises between the bailor and the bailee by reason of either or both of the grounds mentioned in section 7(1), subsections (1) to (3) shall not apply in relation to the goods, but sections 1 to 7 shall apply in relation thereto as they apply in a case where a dispute arises between the bailor and the bailee before the giving of the notice of the bailee's intention to sell the goods or to make an application for an order under part 3 to sell the goods.

9 Procedure after sale under this Act

- (1) Where goods are sold under this Act, any amount by which the gross proceeds of the sale exceed the charges of the bailee in relation to the goods shall be recoverable by the bailor from the bailee as a debt in any court of competent jurisdiction and any amount by which those charges exceed the gross proceeds of the sale shall be recoverable by the bailee from the bailor in the like manner.
- (2) Where goods are so sold the bailee shall, before the expiration of the period of 7 days beginning with the date of the sale of the goods, prepare a record in relation to the goods containing the following particulars—
 - (a) a sufficient description of the goods, or, where the goods are a motor vehicle, the particulars of that vehicle referred to in section 19(1);
 - (b) where the sale of the goods was authorised by an order under part 3—a reference to that order;

- (c) the date and place of the sale and the name and principal place of business of the auctioneer by whom the goods were sold;
- (d) the amount of the proceeds of the sale;
- (e) a statement of each item of the charges of the bailee in relation to the goods and the transaction to which each item relates.
- (3) Where the goods are sold pursuant to this Act otherwise than by virtue of an order authorising the sale of the goods under part 3, the bailee shall, during the period of 6 years beginning with the date on which the record is prepared under subsection (2) or during that portion of that period of 6 years during which the bailee continues to carry on the business in the course of which the goods were accepted for inspection, custody, storage, repair or other treatment, keep the record, together with a copy of the notice of the bailee's intention to sell the goods and shall, at any reasonable time during the said period of 6 years or the said portion of that period, as the case may be, if so requested by or on behalf of the bailor, produce the record and copy for inspection by the bailor, any person nominated by the bailor in that behalf, or any person who, at the time of the sale, had or claims to have had an interest in the goods.
- (4) Where the goods are sold by virtue of an order authorising the sale of the goods under part 3, the bailee shall, before the expiration of 14 days beginning with the date of the sale of the goods, lodge a copy of the record prepared under subsection (2) with the clerk of the court in which the order was made for filing with the records of the court relating to the order.
- (5) Any person who had, or claims to have had at the time of the sale of the goods, an interest in the goods, shall be entitled on payment of a fee of 20c to inspect the copy of the record so lodged.
- (6) A person who—
 - (a) fails to comply with subsection (2); or
 - (b) fails to comply with subsection (3); or

- (c) fails to comply with subsection (4); or
- (d) produces or furnishes a document kept for the purposes of subsection (3) which is to the person's knowledge false in a material particular; or
- (e) lodges a document for the purposes of subsection (4) which is to the person's knowledge false in a material particular;

is guilty of an offence against this Act.

Part 3 Orders of court for sale of uncollected goods

10 Right of bailee to apply for order to sell goods

- (1) Where goods accepted pursuant to a bailment in relation to which this Act applies are ready for re-delivery and the bailor—
 - (a) fails to pay or tender to the bailee the bailor's charges in relation to the goods; or
 - (b) having paid those charges, fails to take delivery of the goods or, if the terms of the bailment so provide, to give directions for their delivery;

and the bailee complies-

- (c) with section 6(1)(a) (where applicable) and section 6(1)(b); or
- (d) where the goods were accepted for inspection, custody, storage, repair or other treatment before the commencement of this Act, and bailee does not, at the commencement of this Act, know any address of the bailor—with section 8(1)(a) and (b);

the bailee may, subject to this part, make an application for an order under section 11 to sell the goods.

[s 10]

- (2) An application for an order under section 11 in respect of goods referred to in subsection (1) may be made whether or not at the date referred to in section 6(1)(c) the amount which the bailee claims to be due to the bailee by way of the bailee's charges in relation to the goods exceeds the sum of \$100.
- (3) No application for an order to sell the goods under section 11 shall be made while a dispute to which section 7(1) relates remains undetermined.
- (4) No application for an order under section 11 to sell the goods shall be made before the expiration of the period of 6 months beginning with the date of giving of the notice under section 6(1)(b) that the goods are ready for re-delivery or if more than 1 such notice was given, beginning with the date of the giving of the later or latest of the notices, or unless the bailee, not less than 28 days before the application is made—
 - (a) gives to the bailor a notice of the bailee's intention to apply for an order to sell the goods under section 11, being a notice complying with the requirements of subsection (7); and
 - (b) gives such a notice to every other person who, at the time the bailee gives the notice to the bailor, the bailee actually knows has or claims an interest in the goods; and
 - (c) causes such a notice to be published—
 - (i) in a newspaper published in Brisbane and circulating throughout the State; and
 - (ii) in a newspaper (if any) published in the district in which are situated the premises where the goods were accepted for inspection, custody, storage, repair or other treatment; and
 - (iii) where the goods are a motor vehicle—in the gazette.
- (5) Where the bailee of goods accepted before the commencement of this Act for inspection, custody, storage, repair or other treatment, does not at the commencement of this Act, know any address of the bailor, for any reference in

[s 11]

subsections (4) or (7) to the date of giving of the notice that goods are ready for re-delivery, there shall be substituted a reference to the date of the publication of the notice under section 8(1)(a) or where more than 1 such notice is published, the last of such notices.

- (6) Where a dispute in relation to any goods is determined (whether by virtue of section 7(2) or (3) or otherwise), subsection (4) shall have effect in relation to those goods as if for the reference in that subsection to the date of the giving of the notice that the goods are ready for re-delivery there were substituted a reference to the date on which the dispute is determined.
- (7) A notice required or authorised by this section to be given by the bailee to the bailor must contain a sufficient description of the goods to which the notice relates or, where the goods are a motor vehicle, the particulars of that motor vehicle referred to in section 19(1) and a statement of the sum that the bailee claims to be due to the bailee by way of the bailee's charges in relation to the goods, together with—
 - (a) a statement of the date of the giving of the notice to the bailor that the goods are ready for re-delivery or, where there has been a dispute between the bailor and bailee, the date on which the dispute was determined; and
 - (b) a statement that if the bailor fails, within the period of 28 days beginning with the date of the giving of the notice of the bailee's intention to make application for an order to sell the goods under section 11, to pay the said sum or, having paid the said sum, to take delivery of the goods or give directions as to their delivery, application will be made to the court under section 11 for an order authorising the bailee to sell the goods.

11 Orders to sell

(1) An application for an order under this section shall be made to a Magistrates Court held in the Magistrates Courts district in which are situated the premises where the goods were

[s 11]

accepted by the bailee for inspection, custody, storage, repair or other treatment.

- (2) Where an application is made to a Magistrates Court in accordance with this part, the court—
 - (a) may make an order authorising the applicant to sell the goods in respect of which the order is made if they remain in the applicant's possession until the applicant is entitled under subsection (7) to sell them; or
 - (b) may refuse to make such an order.
- (3) An order under this section—
 - (a) where the bailor has not paid or tendered to the bailee the bailee's charges in respect of the goods—shall specify the amount which the court deems reasonable in respect of the bailee's charges; and
 - (b) shall specify the amount (if any) allowed in respect of the costs of obtaining the order; and
 - (c) may specify, for the purposes of section 3(5)(a), a rate of storage charges, and for the purposes of section 3(5)(b), the amount that may be incurred in respect of the costs of or in connection with the sale; and
 - (d) shall prohibit the sale of the goods specified in the order until the expiration of a period of 28 days or such lesser period as may be specified in the order, after the date of the order.
- (4) The amount specified in accordance with subsection (3)(a) shall, for all purposes, be the amount of the liability of the bailor of the goods for the charges of the applicant for the order.
- (5) The power of a court to make the order under this section authorising the sale of goods shall be subject to any agreement between the bailor of the goods and the applicant for the order.
- (6) Where at the date referred to in section 6(1)(c) the amount which the bailee claims to be due to the bailee by way of the bailee's charges in relation to the repair of the goods exceeds

[s 12]

the sum of \$110, the court shall not make an order authorising the applicant to sell the goods unless the bailee has obtained an order in writing for the repair of the goods signed by or on behalf of the bailor or the court is satisfied that it was reasonable in the circumstances that such an order was not obtained.

- (7) An applicant in whose favour an order is made under this section is entitled, subject to the order and this Act, to sell the goods specified in the order.
- (8) An order under this section shall not affect the right of any person to recover the goods specified in the order by an action commenced before the sale of the goods by virtue of the order.
- (9) If any such action is so commenced, the right of the person in whose favour the order is made to sell the goods shall be suspended until that action has been heard and determined and if in that action an order is made for the recovery of the goods from the person in whose favour the order was made, that person's right to sell the goods shall cease and determine.
- (10) The jurisdiction conferred on a Magistrates Court by this section shall not be exercised except by a Magistrate Court constituted by a stipendiary magistrate sitting alone.
- (11) The procedure of a Magistrates Court in relation to an application under this section shall be as prescribed by the *Justices Act 1886* or in so far as it is not so prescribed, as the court determines.

Part 4 General

12 Ambulatory operation of Act

Any provisions of this Act which apply to or in respect of any person by virtue of the person's rights or obligations in respect of any goods shall as respects a period during which those rights or obligations are vested in any other person apply to and in respect of that other person.

13 Saving of powers outside Act

The powers conferred on a person by this Act shall be in addition to and not in derogation of any powers exercisable by the person independently of this Act.

14 Notices

- (1) A notice required or authorised by this Act to be given to any person shall be in writing.
- (2) Any such notice may be given—
 - (a) by delivering it to the person to whom it is required or authorised to be given personally; or
 - (b) by leaving it for the person at the person's last known place of abode or business with some other person apparently an inmate thereof or employed thereat, and apparently of or over the age of 16 years; or
 - (c) by posting it addressed to the person at the person's last known place of abode.

15 Buyer of goods sold pursuant to this Act to acquire a good title

- (1) The buyer of any goods sold by a bailee in the exercise or purported exercise of the bailee's powers under this Act shall acquire a good title to the goods if the buyer buys them in good faith and without notice—
 - (a) of any defect or want of title in the bailor; and
 - (b) of any failure by the bailee to comply with any of the provisions of this Act.
- (2) Upon any proceedings by or against the bailee in respect of any goods sold under this Act, the burden of proving that the

[s 16]

provisions of this Act relating to the sale of those goods have been complied with shall be upon the bailee.

16 Rights of owner of goods sold under this Act

Where the bailor of any goods is not the owner thereof and the goods are sold by the bailee in the exercise or purported exercise of the bailee's powers under this Act without notice by the bailee to the owner, the owner shall not be entitled to the return of the goods but shall have the same rights in respect of the proceeds of the sale of the goods as the owner would have had in respect of the goods if the property therein had not passed to the buyer under this Act.

17 Provisions for payment before sale of goods

- (1) At any time before goods are sold under this Act any person claiming any interest or right of possession in the goods may pay the bailee the amount necessary to satisfy the amount of the charges of the bailee including the reasonable and necessary expenses incurred in serving notices, in publication of advertisements and in preparing for sale up to the time of payment.
- (2) The bailee shall deliver the goods to the person making the payment if he or she is the person entitled to the possession of the goods on payment of the bailee's charges thereon, otherwise the bailee shall retain possession of the goods according to the contract (express or implied) for the acceptance of the goods.

18 Provision to be implied in bill of sale or other encumbrance

There shall be implied in every bill of sale or other encumbrance over or in respect of any goods in favour of the grantee or encumbrancee, a covenant that the amount of any payment made by him or her in relation to those goods in terms of section 17 shall be added to or be deemed to be included in, the principal moneys secured by such bill of sale or other encumbrance.

19 Special provisions applicable to sale of motor vehicles

- (1) Where the bailee of any motor vehicle intends to sell the motor vehicle under this Act, the bailee shall, not less than 1 month before the sale and before making any application for an order to sell the vehicle under part 3, give notice to the commissioner of the police service of the bailee's intention to sell, or to make application to sell, the vehicle, together with the particulars of the make, model type, colour, registration number, chassis number (if any), body number (if any), and engine number of the vehicle and how and when it came into the bailee's possession.
- (1A) Where any part of a motor vehicle is removed under the contract under which the goods were accepted by the bailee and the number thereof is required to be furnished under subsection (1), the notice under subsection (1) shall include the number of the part so removed.
 - (2) Upon receipt of any such notice and particulars, the commissioner shall cause a search to be made of the records in the commissioner's custody and shall forward to the bailee a certificate as to whether or not the motor vehicle referred to is for the time being recorded as stolen.
 - (3) Any bailee who sells a motor vehicle under this Act, or makes an application for an order under part 3 to sell the vehicle, without first having obtained from the commissioner of the police service a certificate that the motor vehicle is not recorded for the time being as stolen, is guilty of an offence against this Act.
 - (4) In any proceedings arising out of the sale of a motor vehicle under this Act, a certificate purporting to be signed by the commissioner of the police service or by a police officer who has been authorised in writing in that behalf by the commissioner of the police service, to the effect that any motor vehicle was or was not at any time stated in such

[s 20]

certificate recorded as being stolen shall be prima facie evidence of the facts stated therein.

20 Disposal of net proceeds of sale of goods

- (1) Where, after goods have been sold by virtue of the provisions of this Act and the bailee has deducted the bailee's charges in relation to those goods, there remains a surplus of moneys in the hands of the bailee, the bailee shall within 14 days after the sale pay those moneys to the public trustee unless they have previously been paid by the bailee to the person entitled thereto.
- (2) Where the bailee pays the surplus of any moneys to the person entitled thereto, the bailee shall furnish to that person a copy of the record prepared by the bailee in relation to the goods in accordance with the requirements of section 9(2).
- (3) Any moneys paid to the public trustee under this section shall be held by the public trustee on behalf of the person for the time being entitled thereto, and such person shall be entitled to be repaid such sum less any prescribed charges.
- (4) Any such sum lying unclaimed in the hands of the public trustee for a period of 6 years shall be deemed to be unclaimed moneys under and within the meaning of the *Public Trustee Act 1978* and shall be dealt with accordingly.

21 Right of owner to inspect goods

- (1) Where the bailor of the goods is not the owner thereof, then, at any time after notice has been given to the bailor that the goods are ready for re-delivery, the owner may, at a reasonable time and upon reasonable notice to the bailee, enter upon the premises of the bailee whereat the goods are kept under the bailment and inspect the goods.
- (2) Where a bailee fails to permit the exercise by an owner of the right conferred by subsection (1), a court may refuse to make an order under section 11.

22 Penalties and proceedings

- (1) A person guilty of an offence against this Act is liable to a penalty not exceeding 4 penalty units or 3 months imprisonment.
- (2) Proceedings for an offence against this Act may be taken by way of summary proceedings under the *Justices Act 1886*.

23 Regulation making power

- (1) The Governor in Council may make regulations under this Act.
- (2) A regulation may prescribe a penalty of not more than 2 penalty units for an offence against a regulation.

Endnotes

1 Index to endnotes

 Date to which amendments incorporated. Key. Table of reprints. Tables in earlier reprints. List of legislation . List of annotations 	Page
 4 Table of reprints	
 5 Tables in earlier reprints 6 List of legislation 	
6 List of legislation	
7 List of annotations	

2 Date to which amendments incorporated

This is the reprint date mentioned in the Reprints Act 1992, section 5(c). Accordingly, this reprint includes all amendments that commenced operation on or before 1 January 2003. Future amendments of the Disposal of Uncollected Goods Act 1967 may be made in accordance with this reprint under the Reprints Act 1992, section 49.

3 Key

Key to abbreviations in list of legislation and annotations

Key		Explanation	Кеу		Explanation
Key AIA amd amdt ch def div exp gaz hdg ins lap notfd num o in c om orig		Explanation Acts Interpretation Act 1954 amended amendment chapter definition division expires/expired gazette heading inserted lapsed notified numbered order in council omitted original	Key (prev) proc prov pt pubd R[X] RA reloc renum rep (retro) rv s sch sdiv SIA		Explanation previously proclamation provision part published Reprint No. [X] Reprints Act 1992 relocated renumbered repealed retrospectively revised edition section schedule subdivision Statutory Instruments Act 1992
р	=	page	SIR	=	Statutory Instruments Regulation 2002
· .					
0		0			•
para prec	= =	paragraph preceding	SL sub	= =	subordinate legislation substituted
pres prev	=	present previous	unnum	=	unnumbered

4 Table of reprints

Reprints are issued for both future and past effective dates. For the most up-to-date table of reprints, see the reprint with the latest effective date.

If a reprint number includes a letter of the alphabet, the reprint was released in unauthorised, electronic form only.

Reprint No.	Amendments to	Effective	Reprint date
1	1995 Act No. 58	28 November 1995	12 December 1995
1A	2000 Act No. 20	1 July 2000	25 August 2000
1B	2000 Act No. 46	25 October 2000	3 November 2000
Doprint	Amendments included	Effective	Notes
Reprint No.	Amendments included	Ellective	Notes
1C	2002 Act No. 52	1 January 2003	

Name of table

5 Tables in earlier reprints

Reprint No.

Changed citations and remade laws	
Changed names and titles	
Obsolete and redundant provisions	
Renumbered provisions	
Kendinbered provisions	

6 List of legislation

Disp	osal of Uncollected Goods Act 1967 No. 56 date of assent 22 December 1967 commenced 1 July 1968 (proc pubd gaz 29 June 1968 p 1045)
	amending legislation—
Stora	age Liens Act 1973 No. 18 s 21 (prev Warehousemen's Liens Act 1973) date of assent 13 April 1973 commenced on date of assent
Disp	osal of Uncollected Goods Act Amendment Act 1988 No. 6 date of assent 7 April 1988 commenced on date of assent
Statu	Ite Law Revision Act (No. 2) 1995 No. 58 ss 1–2, 4 sch 1 date of assent 28 November 1995 commenced on date of assent
GST	and Related Matters Act 2000 No. 20 ss 1, 2(4), 29 sch 3 date of assent 23 June 2000 ss 1–2 commenced on date of assent remaining provisions commenced 1 July 2000 (see s 2(4))
Statu	Ite Law (Miscellaneous Provisions) Act 2000 No. 46 ss 1, 3 sch date of assent 25 October 2000 commenced on date of assent
Tour	rism, Racing and Fair Trading (National Competition Policy) Amendment Act 2002 No. 52 ss 1, 2(1)(a), 2(2), 19 sch date of assent 24 September 2002

ss 1–2, 19 commenced on date of assent (see s 2(1)(a)) remaining provisions commenced 1 January 2003 (2002 SL No. 296)

7 List of annotations

Short title

prov hdgamd R1 (see RA s 37)s 1amd R1 (see RA s 37)

Division of Act into parts

s 2 om R1 (see RA s 36)

Interpretation

s 3 def "hire-purchase agreement" amd 2002 No. 52 s 19 sch def "Magistrates Court" om 1995 No. 58 s 4 sch 1 def "Magistrates Court district" or "district" amd R1 (see RA s 39)

Application of Act

s 4 amd 1973 No. 18 s 21(1)

Rights of bailees to sell goods accepted for treatment but not re-delivered s 5 and 1995 No. 58 s 4 sch 1

Bailee to comply with certain provisions to be entitled to sell goods

s 6 amd 1995 No. 58 s 4 sch 1; 2000 No. 20 s 29 sch 3; 2000 No. 46 s 3 sch

Special provisions applicable to certain cases of goods accepted before the commencement of this Act

s 8 amd 1995 No. 58 s 4 sch 1

Procedure after sale under this Act

s 9 amd 1995 No. 58 s 4 sch 1

Right of bailee to apply for order to sell goods

s 10 amd 1995 No. 58 s 4 sch 1

Orders to sell

s 11 amd 1995 No. 58 s 4 sch 1; 2000 No. 20 s 29 sch 3

Buyer of goods sold pursuant to this Act to acquire a good title

s 15 amd 1995 No. 58 s 4 sch 1

Rights of owner of goods sold under this Acts 16amd 1995 No. 58 s 4 sch 1

Provisions for payment before sale of goods

s 17 amd 1995 No. 58 s 4 sch 1

Special provisions applicable to sale of motor vehicles

s 19 amd 1988 No. 6 s 3; 1995 No. 58 s 4 sch 1

Penalties and proceedings

s 22 amd 1995 No. 58 s 4 sch 1

Regulation making power

s 23 sub 1995 No. 58 s 4 sch 1

Repeals s 24 om R1 (see RA s 40)

© State of Queensland 2010